IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

STATE OF IOWA,)
Plaintiff-Appellee,))
v.	SUPREME COURT 17-1286
CHARLES R. ALBRIGHT,)
Defendant-Appellant.))
No.	

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR FRANKLIN COUNTY HONORABLE GREGG R. ROSENBLADT, JUDGE

APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND ARGUMENT AND REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

MARK C. SMITH
State Appellate Defender

MARTHA J. LUCEY Assistant Appellate Defender mlucey@spd.state.ia.us appellatedefender@spd.state.ia.us

STATE APPELLATE DEFENDER'S OFFICE Fourth Floor Lucas Building Des Moines, Iowa 50319 (515) 281-8841 / (515) 281-7281 FAX ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

FINAL

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. DID THE STATE PRESENT SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO PROVE ALBRIGHT COMMITTED KIDNAPPING IN THE FIRST DEGREE?

Authorities

State v. Allen, 304 N.W.2d 203, 206 (Iowa 1981)

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052 (1984)

State v. Crone, 545 N.W.2d 267, 270 (Iowa 1996)

State v. Heard, 636 N.W.2d 227, 229 (Iowa 2001)

State v. Risdal, 404 N.W.2d 130, 131 (Iowa 1987)

State v. Hopkins, 576 N.W.2d 374, 377 (Iowa 1998)

State v. Allen, 348 N.W.2d 243, 247 (Iowa 1984)

State v. Robinson, 288 N.W.2d 337, 340 (Iowa 1980)

State v. Casady, 491 N.W.2d 782, 787 (Iowa 1992)

State v. Truesdell, 679 N.W.2d 611, 618-19 (Iowa 2004)

A. confinement and/or removal

Authorities

State v. Rich, 305 N.W.2d 739, 745 (Iowa 1981)

State v. Robinson, 859 N.W.2d 464, 475 (Iowa 2015)

State v. Misner, 410 N.W.2d 216, 223 (Iowa 1987)

State v. Holderness, 301 N.W.2d 733, 740 (Iowa 1981)

State v. Heemstra, 721 N.W.2d 549, 558 (Iowa 2006)

B. intentionally subjected to torture

Authorities

State v. Cross, 308 N.W.2d 25, 27 (Iowa 1981)

State v. Kirchner, 600 N.W.2d 330, 334 (Iowa Ct. App. 1999)

State v. White, 668 N.W.2d 850, 857 (Iowa 2003)

State v. Heemstra, 721 N.W.2d 558, 558 (Iowa 2006)

U.S. Const. amend VI

Iowa Const. art. I, §10

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 686, 104 S.Ct. 2063 (1984)

Snethen v. State, 308 N.W.2d 11, 14 (Iowa 1981)

II. DID THE DISTRICT COURT ERR IN SUBMITTING KIDNAPPING IN THE SECOND DEGREE (DANGEROUS WEAPON) AS A LESSER-INCLUDED OFFENSE OF KIDNAPPING IN THE FIRST DEGREE (TORTURE)?

Authorities

State v. Jeffries, 430 N.W.2d 728, 737 (Iowa 1988)

State v. Spates, 779 N.W.2d 770, 775 (Iowa 2010)

Alcala v. Marriott Intern., Inc., 880 N.W.2d 699, 707 (Iowa 2016)

State v. Predka, 555 N.W.2d 202, 204 (Iowa 1996)

State v. Douglas, 485 N.W.2d 619, 623 (Iowa 1992)

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.22(3)

State v. McNitt, 451 N.W.2d 824, 825 (Iowa 1990)

State v. Ondayog, 722 N.W.2d 778, 783 (Iowa 2006)

State v. Coffin, 504 N.W.2d 893, 894 (Iowa 1993)

State v. Turecek, 456 N.W.2d 219, 223 (Iowa 1990)

State v. Miller, 841 N.W.2d 583, 588 (Iowa 2014)

State v. Stewart, 858 N.W.2d 17, 21 (Iowa 2015)

State v. Adcock, 426 N.W.2d 639, 640 (Iowa Ct. App. 1988)

III. DID TRIAL COUNSEL PROVIDE INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE BY FAILING TO OBJECT TO AND INTRODUCING EVIDENCE OF ALBRIGHT'S OTHER CRIMES, WRONGS OR OTHER ACTS?

Authorities

State v. Lucas, 323 N.W.2d 228, 232 (Iowa 1982)

State v. Hrbek, 336 N.W.2d 431, 435-436 (Iowa 1983)

Washington v. Scurr, 304 N.W.2d 231, 235 (Iowa 1981)

State v. Risdal, 404 N.W.2d 130, 131 (Iowa 1987)

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2063 (1984)

Snethen v. State, 308 N.W.2d 11, 14 (Iowa 1981)

State v. Maxwell, 743 N.W.2d 185, 196 (Iowa 2008)

State v. Cromer, 765 N.W.2d 1, 8 (Iowa 2009)

State v. Graves, 668 N.W.2d 860, 870 (Iowa 2003)

State v. Buck, 510 N.W.2d 850, 853 (Iowa 1994)

State v. Taylor, 689 N.W.2d 116, 123 (Iowa 2004)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.402

Iowa R. Evid. 5.401

Iowa R. Evid. 5.403

Iowa R. Evid. 5.404(b)

State v. Sullivan, 679 N.W.2d 19, 24 (Iowa 2004)

State v. Cox, 781 N.W.2d 757, 761 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Nelson, 791 N.W.2d 414, 425 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Rodriquez, 636 N.W.2d 234, 240 (Iowa 2001)

A. Trial counsel provided ineffective assistance by failing to object to and introducing evidence of prior abuse of Hartman.

Authorities

State v. Taylor, 689 N.W.2d 116, 124-125 (Iowa 2004)

State v. Richards, 879 N.W.2d 140 (Iowa 2016)

State v. Sullivan, 679 N.W.2d 19, 25 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Henderson, 696 N.W.2d 5, 16 (Iowa 2005)

State v. Nelson, 791 N.W.2d 414, 419-20 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Newell, 710 N.W.2d 6, 22 (Iowa 2006)

State v. Rodriquez, 636 N.W.2d 234, 242 (Iowa 2001)

State v. Liggins, 524 N.W.2d 181, 188–89 (Iowa 1994)

State v. Casady, 491 N.W.2d 782, 786 (Iowa 1992)

Iowa Criminal Jury Instruction 200.34

B. Trial counsel provided ineffective assistance by failing to object to and introducing evidence of Albright's prior domestic abuse conviction and prison sentence.

Authorities

Iowa R. Evid. 5.404(b)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.403

State v. Rodriquez, 636 N.W.2d 234, 240 (Iowa 2001)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.609(1)(B)

State v. Aiotis, 569 N.W.2d 813, 816 (Iowa 1997), overruled on other grounds State v. Harrington, 800 N.W.2d 46, 51 (Iowa 2011)

Gordon v. United States, 383 F.2d 936, 940 (D.C.Cir.1967)

State v. Daly, 623 N.W.2d 799, 803 (Iowa 2001)

Iowa Criminal Jury Instruction 200.34

Iowa Criminal Jury Instruction 200.36

C. Cumulative effect of errors.

Authorities

State v. Clay, 824 N.W.2d 488, 500-502 (Iowa 2012)

Wycoff v. State, 382 N.W.2d 462, 473 (Iowa 1986)

IV. DID THE DISTRICT COURT ERR IN ORDERING ALBRIGHT TO REIMBURSE THE STATE FOR THE COST OF HIS LEGAL ASSISTANCE WITHOUT FIRST CONSIDERING HIS REASONABLE ABILITY TO PAY SUCH RESTITUTION?

Authorities

State v. Janz, 358 N.W.2d 547, 548-49 (Iowa 1984)

State v. Jose, 636 N.W.2d 38, 44 (Iowa 2001)

State v. Bruegger, 773 N.W.2d 862, 871 (Iowa 2009)

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.24(5)(a)

State v. Jenkins, 788 N.W.2d 640, 642 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Klawonn, 688 N.W.2d 271, 274 (Iowa 2004)

State v. Dudley, 766 N.W.2d 606, 612 (Iowa 2009)

Iowa Code §815.9(3) (2015)

Iowa Code §910.2 (2015)

Iowa Code § 815.9(4)(2015)

Iowa Code §910.2(1) (2015)

State v. Alspach, 554 N.W.2d 882, 883 (Iowa 1996)

State v. Mayberry, 415 N.W.2d 644, 646 (Iowa 1987)

State v. Bonstetter, 637 N.W.2d 161, 166 (Iowa 2001)

Iowa Court R. 26.2(10)(a)

State v. Haines, 360 N.W.2d 791, 797 (Iowa 1985)

State v. Harrison, 351 N.W.2d 526, 529 (Iowa 1984)

Bearden v. Georgia, 461 U.S. 660, 667 n.8, 103 S.Ct. 2064, 2069 n.8 (1983)

State v. Coleman, 907 N.W.2d 124, 149 (Iowa 2018)

State v. Blank, 570 N.W.2d 924, 927 (Iowa 1997)

State v. Van Hoff, 415 N.W.2d 647, 649 (Iowa 1987)

State v. Swartz, 601 N.W.2d 348, 354 (Iowa 1999)

State v. Jackson, 601 N.W.2d 354, 357 (Iowa 1999) Iowa Court R. 26.2(10)(c)

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case should be retained by the Iowa Supreme Court. Albright requests this Court clarify the proper scope and procedure to consider the defendant's reasonable ability to pay criminal restitution and/or overrule conflicting case law. Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(d), 6.1101(2)(b), and 6.1101(2)(f). Published Supreme Court case law is conflicting. See e.g. State v. Harrison, 351 N.W.2d 526, 529 (Iowa 1984) (The offender's reasonable ability to make restitution is an express condition on the determination of the amount of restitution for court costs and attorney fees.); State v. Haines, 360 N.W.2d 791, 797 (Iowa 1985) (Restitution for court costs and attorney fees to the county is limited "to the extent that the offender is reasonably able to do so."); State v. Blank, 570 N.W.2d 924, 927 (Iowa 1997) ("The focus is not on whether a defendant has the ability to pay the entire amount of restitution due but on his ability to pay the current installments."); State v. Swartz, 601 N.W.2d 348, 354 (Iowa 1999) (Without a plan of payment and exhausting remedy provided in section 910.7, defendant may

not advance reasonable ability to pay claim in appellate court.); State v. Jackson, 601 N.W.2d 354, 357 (Iowa 1999)(same as Swartz); State v. Jose, 636 N.W.2d 38, 45 (Iowa 2001)(Distinguishing Swartz and Jackson as a challenge to the "restitution plan of payment," from Jose's challenge to the total amount of restitution or the "plan of restitution."); State v. Jenkins, 788 N.W.2d 640, 646-647 (Iowa 2010)("A contingent postdeprivation remedy where the offender may be unrepresented does not give this court comfort in the context of procedural due process."). This Court should clarify the proper procedure and scope of the "reasonable ability to pay" provision.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case: Charles Albright appeals following a jury trial, judgment and sentence, to the charges of willful injury causing bodily injury in violation of Iowa Code sections 708.4(1) and 708.4(2) (2015) and kidnapping in the first degree in violation of Iowa Code sections 710.1(3) and 710.2 (2015).

Course of Proceeding and Disposition Below: On October 28, 2016, the State charged Albright with Count I: willful injury and Count II: kidnapping in the first degree, for alleged acts on October 7, 2016. (TI)(App. pp. 13-14).

A jury trial began on July 11, 2017. (Vol. 1 p. 1L1-25). Prior to the presentation of evidence, the State amended to the Trial Information to charge in Count I: willful injury causing bodily injury. Count II was not amended. (Vol. 1 p. 6L16-p. 7L18; Amended TI; Order Amending TI)(App. pp. 35-38). On July 14, 2017, the jury found Albright guilty as charged. (Order on Verdicts)(App. pp. 49-51).

On August 11, 2017, Albright was sentenced to be incarcerated for the remainder of his life (Ct. II) and not to exceed five years (Ct. I) to be served concurrently. The court ordered Albright pay court costs including the costs of his legal assistance. (Judgment)(App. pp. 52-54). Notice of Appeal was filed on August 14, 2017. (Notice)(App. pp. 55-56).

<u>Facts</u>: Kim Hartman and Charles Albright dated for two to two and half years. (Vol. 2 p. 19L11-13, p. 106

L21-p. 107L4; Vol. 3 p. 19-22). They lived together in several locations including campgrounds. (Vol. 2 p. 20L23-p. 21L6, p. 107L5-p. 109L22; Vol. 3 p. 64L14-p. 66L17, p. 83L1-15, p. 84L2-10, p. 85L15-p. 86L7). In May 2016, Hartman and Albright moved into a house located at 201 Virginia in Meservey. (Vol. 2 p. 19L14-19, p. 20L3-22; Vol. 3 p. 8-14). Hartman was unemployed. She did not have a vehicle or a cell phone. Albright had a cell phone and a Chevy Truck. (Vol. 2 p. 21L7-25).

Hartman testified that Albright had been controlling and abusive in the past. (Vol. 50L4-p.52L14, p. 112L11-15, p. 113L11-21, p. 115L5-22, p. 128L12-p. 129L17, p. 132L9-20, p. 133L3-12). Albright's friend Shawn Rockwell and his mother did not see signs of abuse. (Vol. 3 p. 50L16-p. 51L4, p. 52L6-14, p. 55L6-9, p. 66L18-p. 67L9, p. 70L15-p. 71L15). Albright denied trying to keep Hartman from her family. (Vol. 3 p. 86L15-p. 87L8). Albright admitted to assaulting Hartman one time a couple of weeks prior to October 7, 2016, and Hartman left the home. Hartman returned home after Albright

said he wanted to work it out and agreed to do couples counseling. (Vol. 2p. 31L8-25, p. 114L15-p. 115L4; Vol. 3 p. 89L2-p. 90L5, p. 90L16-24, p. 116L10-p. 117L2, p. 119L4-13).

Hartman and Albright had different versions of events on October 6^{th} and 7^{th} .

Hartman's testimony

On October 7, 2016, Albright did not go into work. Albright believed Hartman had men visiting her when he was at work. He believed Hartman had a secret cell phone. Albright was paranoid and angry. (Vol. 2 p. 23L11-p. 25L16). began to assault Hartman at approximately 1:30 a.m. (Vol. 2 p. 33L21-p. 34L4). Albright hit Hartman in the face. called her names. (Vol. 2 p. 26L7-22). When Hartman tried to leave the house, Albright grabbed her by her coat and threw her against the wall. Albright told Hartman that she was not going anywhere. (Vol. 2 p. 26L23-p. 27L15, p. 86L16-23). Albright threw Hartman onto the floor and slammed her head on the floor. (Vol. 2 p. 27L22-p. 28L6). Albright then threw Hartman onto the mattress on the living room floor and continued to hit

her. (Vol. 2 p. 28L9-19). Albright's German Shepard also bit Hartman. Hartman did not remember if Albright told the dog to stop. Albright also hit Hartman in the pelvic area with a cordless drill. (Vol. 2 p. 29L15-p. 31L5, p. 125L13-25). Hartman tried to block the blows with her arms. Albright used a knife to cut behind Hartman's ear. (Vol. 2 p. 32L3-24). Albright used a Taser on Hartman's wrist. (Vol. 2 p. 48L24-p. 49L22). Hartman testified the beating went on for hours. (Vol. 2 p. 33L2-3, p. 34L23-p. 35L13).

At some point, Albright made her leave the house to take the puppy to the veterinarian in Sheffield. Hartman did not want to go but she got into the truck. Albright took the back roads. He continued to punch her in the truck. (Vol. 2 p. 36L5-p. 39L5; Vol. 3 p. 26L13-p. 27L12). Albright spoke to Rockwell during the drive to the vet. Albright continued to hit her. (Vol. 2 p. 39L6-p. 40L18, p. 121L12-p. 123L12; Vol. 3 54L2-p. 55L5, p. 58L1-20). Albright told Hartman that he would bury her up to her neck in a cornfield and let a combine take her head off and nobody would find her. (Vol. 2 p.

40L19-p. 41L8). Hartman tried to talk him out of his belief that she was cheating. She told him she did not have a phone or hidden telephone numbers and nobody came to see her. (Vol. 2 p. 41L9-14).

Albright took the puppy into the veterinary clinic.

Hartman stayed in the truck. Albright then drove across the street to the Casey's. (Vol. 2 p. 41L21-p. 42L23). Hartman testified Albright hit her before exiting the truck and told her not to move. (Vol. 2 p. 42L24-p. 43L1). Albright went into the store. Hartman got out of the truck and ran to the Dollar General. (Vol. 2 p. 43L2-p. 44L4).

Hartman got the phone from the Dollar General clerk and went into the bathroom. (Vol. 2 p. 44L7-p. 45L3). She locked herself in the bathroom and called 911. (Vol. 2 p. 45L4-19). Sheffield Chief of Police Sam Cain responded to the 911 cal. (Vol. 2 p. 134L3-6, p. 135L13-16). Cain observed the injuries to Hartman's face – her eyes were almost swollen shut and it appeared her cheeks and nose were broken. (Vol. 2 p. 139L18-p. 140L2). An EMT who was shopping in the store

evaluated Hartman. An ambulance was called. (Vol. 2 p. 48L8-15, p. 140L14-19, p. 141L17-p. 142L12, p. 148L25-p. 151L8). Hartman's nose was broken in two places. (Vol. 2 p. 52L16-25, p. 172L3-p. 173L14). She has lots of bruises and swelling. (Vol. 2 p. 53L1-p 54L8, p. 175L15-p. 179L22). Albright's testimony

According to Albright, Hartman had been different the week of October 2, 2016. She was crying and had a hard time looking Albright in the eyes. (Vol. 3 p. 88L23-p. 89L1, p. 90L25-p. 91L4). Albright found out what was bothering Hartman. Hartman told Albright she had been raped. Albright was in a blind rage. (Vol. 3 p. 91L20-22, p. 109L10-15). Albright testified that he threw Hartman on the mattress and the German Shepard latched onto her left leg. Albright denied hitting her at that time. (Vol. 3 p. 109L16-19, p. 113L11-19). Albright left the residence and drove around for approximately thirty-five minutes. (Vol. 3 p. 99L24-p. 100L5). During the late evening hours of October 6, 2016, Hartman called Rockwell using Albright's cell phone. Albright

was out driving around. (Vol. 3 p. 53L15-p. 54L1, p. 57L24-p. 57L22). Albright returned to the house and they talked more. They eventually slept. Albright denied confining Hartman in the house. (Vol. 3 p. 100L6-20).

On October 7th, they overslept, and Albright missed work. Hartman called the vet to alert they might be late for the appointment. (Vol. 3 p. 100L21-p. 101L7). Albright picked up the dog and took him to the truck. He asked Hartman to go with him. She agreed to go; he did not force her. (Vol. 3 p. 101L8-22). On the way to the vet, Rockwell called him. Albright testified that he was "hurt" because he found out Hartman had not been raped but had consensual sex with someone other than him. Albright described his feelings as "hurt", "raged", "very upset", "very emotional", and "distraught." (Vol. 3 p. 102L11-25). Albright hit Hartman several times on the trip to the vet clinic. (Vol. 3 p. 103L1-12, p. 110L1-22).

Albright took the dog into the clinic. He was inside the office for approximately 15-20 minutes. The dog had a broken leg and needed to stay at the clinic. (Vol. 3 p. 103L13-p.

104L6). Albright was distraught about the dog and Hartman. He told Hartman he needed to get a drink and cigarettes. Albright believed Hartman was lying to him again. He struck her again in the Casey's parking lot. (Vol. 3 p. 104L16-p. 105L6, p. 128L20-24). Albright denied confining her or removing her against her will. (Vol. 3 p. 106L9-15).

Albright called his mother and admitted he hit Hartman.

Albright was very upset. He acknowledged that he should not have hit her. (Vol. 3 p. 74L18-p. 75L1).

The days following October 7th

Albright attempted to contact Hartman using Facebook.

Hartman did not response to the messages. (Vol. 2 p. 54L20-p. 56L19; Vol 3 p. 119L22-p. 121L3, p. 121L25-p. 122L16, p. 123L3-p. 123L10; Ex. 35)(Ex. App. pp. 19-25).

On October 18, 2016, the Iowa Division of Criminal Investigation (DCI) was asked to assist in the case. (Vol. 3 p. 9L15-22). Albright had not been located as of October 18th. (Vol. 3 p. 9L12-14, p. 11L3-11). A warrant had been issued on October 10th and law enforcement was actively looking for

Albright. (Vol. 3 p. 11L12-p. 12L11). Albright was located on October 19th and arrested. (Vol. 3 p. 13L2-p. 14L5).

The Virginia Street residence was searched on October 18th. (Vol. 3 p. 25L16-25). A cordless drill was located on a chair next to the mattress in the living room. (Vol. 3 p. 28L10-p. 30L21). A couple of knives seized from the Meservey house were sent to the DCI lab but no DNA or fingerprints were found. (Vol. 3 p. 39L10-p. 40L15)

In February 2017, the person who owned the residence where Albright was arrested turned over some property to law enforcement. The person found items in the basement that did not belong to her or her family. (Vol. 3 p. 19L15-p. 21L18, p. 25L1-13). Hartman identified the items as belonging to Albright. Albright's fingerprint was found on a paper item. (Vol. 3 p. 22L11-p. 23L2). Among the items were knives including a knife labeled "pig sticker" and a rope noose. (Vol. 3 p. 23L3-24). None of the knives were sent to the DCI lab for DNA testing. (Vol. 3 p. 39L7-9).

ARGUMENT

I. THE STATE FAILED TO PRESENT SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO PROVE ALBRIGHT COMMITTED KIDNAPPING IN THE FIRST DEGREE.

Preservation of Error.

Albright moved for a judgment of acquittal. (Vol. 3 p. 42L18-p. 45L2, p. 129L5-p. 130L11). The motion for judgment of acquittal minimally preserved error on the issue presented. State v. Allen, 304 N.W.2d 203, 206 (Iowa 1981). If this Court determines defendant's motion for judgment of acquittal was insufficient to preserve error on the deficiency in the State's proof, counsel's failure to preserve error deprived him of the effective assistance of counsel as guaranteed by the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052 (1984). See State v. Crone, 545 N.W.2d 267, 270 (Iowa 1996) (motion for judgment of acquittal does not preserve error where there was no reference to specific grounds in district court.).

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