IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA Supreme Court No. 17-1286

STATE OF IOWA, Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

CHARLES R. ALBRIGHT, Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR FRANKLIN COUNTY THE HONORABLE GREGG R. ROSENBLADT, JUDGE

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER Attorney General of Iowa

MARTHA E. TROUT

Assistant Attorney General Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor Des Moines, Iowa 50319 (515) 281-5976 (515) 281-4902 (fax) <u>martha.trout@ag.iowa.gov</u>

BRENT SYMENS Franklin County Attorney

LAURA ROAN Assistant Attorney General

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

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

of a defendant's prior assaults of a victim in a prosecution of the defendant for the subsequent murder of a victim." *Id*.

In *State v. Richards*, 879 N.W.2d 140, 148 (Iowa 2016), the supreme court held that "intent is one valid, non-character theory of admissibility." Iowa R. Evid. 5. 404(b). The court continued that "the State may only utilize other acts evidence to prove intent if intent is legitimately disputed." *Id.*; *State v. Newell*, 710 N.W.2d 6, 22 (Iowa 2006); *see also State v. Rodriquez*, 636 N.W.2d 234, 242 (Iowa 2001).

Albright contends that his intent was not in dispute and admitted he hit Hartman. Def. Brief at 71-72. Albright's defense was to admit the willful injury and with it the specific intent to commit a serious injury. He was willing to admit to the lower level offense to prevent his conviction on the higher level of the offense. Even if he did admit to having the specific intent to commit a serious injury, Albright's intent was still at issue as to the kidnapping. That is, he disputed whether he "intentionally subjected Hartman to torture." Because his intent was at issue with regard to the kidnapping, intent was an issue and the admission of the abuse Albright perpetrated on Hartman prior to October 7th was relevant.

The evidence of the prior abuse was also relevant under the "inextricably intertwined doctrine." *State v. Nelson*, 791 N.W.2d 414, 422 (Iowa 2010). That is, "when acts are so closely related in time and place and so intimately connected that they form a continuous transaction, the whole transaction may be shown to complete the story of what happened." *Id.* In this case, the nature of Hartman and Albright's relationship was abusive. He believed she was cheating on him and he took out his anger in the physical and mental abuse of her. The prior acts were relevant to establish the nature of their relationship.

In addition, the evidence of the prior abuse was relevant to explain why she did not flee from Albright when she was alone in the truck at the veterinarian's office. She knew, based upon their prior relationship, what would befall her if she did. She was trying to stay alive and do what he told her to do so he would not become more enraged and subject her to additional abuse. *Newell*, 710 N.W.2d at 20-21; *Taylor*, 689 N.W.2d at 124-25; *Rodriquez*, 636 N.W2d at 243. The past physical and mental abuse would explain this to the jury

The question then becomes whether there was "clear proof the individual against whom the evidence is offered committed the bad

act or crime." *Sullivan*, 679 N.W.2d at 25. Without question, Hartman's testimony satisfies this requirement. *Richards*, 879 N.W.2d at 151 (a victim's testimony, standing alone, satisfies the requirement of clear proof); *State v. Jones*, 464 N.W.2d 241, 243 (Iowa 1990). Albright's attempts to discredit Hartman's testimony about the prior abuse through cross-examination do not negate the fact that the prior act need not be established beyond a reasonable doubt nor does it need to be corroborated. *Taylor*, 689 N.W.2d at 130 (the prior act need not be established beyond a reasonable doubt, nor is corroboration necessary).

The final consideration is whether the probative value of the evidence is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice to the defendant. The danger of unfair prejudice does not outweigh its probative value. The evidence was "inextricably intertwined" with the injuries and torture Hartman suffered on October 7th. Thus, the acts amounted to a continuous transaction. Even if it could be argued that the acts were not intertwined, the testimony regarding the prior acts was nearly identical to what he had been charged with committing on October 7th. That is to say, the jury would not find

Albright's actions any more egregious if the same or similar abuse occurred before.

Because the evidence of the prior abuse was relevant and its probative value outweighed the danger of unfair prejudice, counsel had no duty to object to its admission. *Rice*, 543 N.W.2d at 888.

Albright must also demonstrate prejudice. To do so, counsel must show that had counsel objected to the admission of the prior acts of abuse, the district court would have sustained the objection, and he would not have been convicted of willful injury and firstdegree kidnapping. Even if counsel had lodged an objection, the district court would have overruled it as the prior acts were relevant and not unfairly prejudicial. Moreover, as argued above, and incorporated herein, the State had a strong case against Albright. The testimony of Hartman coupled with the nature and extent of her injuries, and Albright's own admissions that he assaulted her. No prejudice occurred.

B. Prior conviction

Albright also claims counsel was ineffective in failing to object to Exhibit 35 (text messages) and introducing his prior conviction for domestic abuse assault during his testimony. Counsel's decision not

to object to the reference to his prison "number" and his prior conviction were strategic. Because counsel reasonably determined that both strategies were intended to cast Albright in a more positive light with the jury and were consistent with his theory of the case, he cannot show counsel was ineffective.

Counsel's decision not to object to Exhibit 35 was strategic. Exhibit 35 was a screen shot of text messages Albright sent to Hartman which said: "My state number if you want to write me. 1065220." Exh. 35; App. 19. By not objecting, counsel wanted to convey Albright's remorse for his actions, his acknowledgement that he had done something wrong and would likely go to prison for it. By admitting his failings, counsel could have thought this would cast Albright in a more favorable light with the jury.

Additionally, the message was consistent with his defense. Albright admitted he hit Hartman "several" times. Tr. Vol.III,p.102,L16-p.103,L9. He was willing to admit to the willful injury and accepted he would have to go to prison. The substance of the text message was the same as his defense. He had done something wrong and was willing to accept the consequences. For this reason, the admission of the exhibit was not unfairly prejudicial.

Similarly, as to counsel's decision to introduce Albright's prior conviction for domestic abuse was strategic. During his direct examination of Albright, counsel said:

COUNSEL: I want you to think back to some earlier years because I think Ms. Roan has a right to ask you this. Have you ever gone to prison?

DEFENDANT: Yes.

Tr.Vol.III, p. 105,Ls13-23. Albright admitted he had gone to prison for an enhanced domestic abuse assault. Tr.Vol.III, p. 105,Ls13-23. Counsel must have believed that the State could impeach him with the prior conviction under Rule 5.609 and determined that the probative value outweighed the danger of unfair prejudice. Because of this, counsel strategically determined that it would be better for Albright to admit to the prior conviction during his testimony so that the jury could see that Albright was willing to acknowledge his past misgivings and move forward. This strategy dovetailed with his defense. That is, he admitted to striking Hartman and was willing to face conviction on the willful injury. Tr. Vol.IIIp.106,Ls3-23, Vol.IVp.32,L8-p.35,L3.

Defense counsel was faced with a difficult decision given the strength of the State's case, the physical evidence, the victim's

testimony, and his admission. Counsel had to decide whether to question Albright about the prior conviction or sit back and let the State impeach him with it. By doing the former, he could limit Albright's exposure with the jury. By doing the latter, he would risk have the jury think he was hiding something. Under these circumstances, counsel's actions were reasonable albeit unsuccessful.

Albright must also demonstrate prejudice from counsel's actions in failing to object to Exhibit 35 (text messages) and in introducing his prior conviction. To do so, he must show that had counsel objected to Exhibit 35, the district court would have sustained the objection, and he would not have been convicted of willful injury and kidnapping. This would not have happened given the strength of the State's case as argued above and incorporated herein.

Likewise, Albright must also show that had counsel decided not to introduce his prior conviction he would not have been convicted. Again, the State's evidence was compelling if not overwhelming. Given this and his own admissions that he beat Hartman, he cannot demonstrate prejudice.

C. Cumulative error

Finally, Albright argues that while counsel's errors may not individually amount to ineffective assistance, the cumulative effect of multiple errors may make out a Sixth Amendment violation. Def. Brief at 84. That did not occur in this case.

As argued above, the evidence of Albright's prior assaults were "inextricably intertwined" with the abuse Hartman suffered on October 7, 2016, and were relevant. Even if the court find's they were not intertwined, they were relevant to establish his intent to torture Hartman during the hours-long ordeal. This evidence was also not unfairly prejudicial because it was similar to the evidence that the jury heard about the events of October 7th and that evidence was compelling.

Further, as to counsel's decision not to object to the admission of Exhibit 35 was reasonable trial strategy as was his decision to introduce Albright's prior conviction for domestic abuse assault. While it may have been unsuccessful, counsel had a tough decision to make given the State's evidence. Counsel opted to be upfront with the jury rather than hide his prior conviction. Albright is unable to demonstrate prejudice from counsel's actions under any situation.

There was no error because the individual claims are meritless. Stated simply, zero plus zero equals zero.

IV. The district court acted properly in ordering restitution for court costs and in finding he had the reasonable ability to pay the costs.

Ripeness

Albright's reasonable ability-to-pay claim is not properly before this Court because it is not yet ripe. Nor has Albright exhausted his remedies below, as required. For those reasons, this Court should dismiss Albright's restitution claim. *See Iowa Coal Min. Co., Inc. v. Monroe County*, 555 N.W.2d 418, 432 (Iowa 1996) ("If a claim is not ripe for adjudication, a court is without jurisdiction to hear the claim and must dismiss it."); *State v. Jackson*, 601 N.W.2d 354, 357 (Iowa 1999) (declining to grant relief on a defendant's ability-to-pay challenge where the plan of restitution was not yet complete and the defendant had not yet petitioned the district court for modification under Iowa Code section 910.7).

A district court is not required to consider a defendant's reasonable ability to pay until "the plan of restitution contemplated by Iowa Code section 910.3 [i]s complete" *Jackson*, 601 N.W.2d at 357; *see also State v. Swartz*, 601 N.W.2d 348, 354 (Iowa 1999);

State v. Campbell, No. 15-1181, 2016 WL 4543763, at *4 (Iowa Ct. App. Aug. 31, 2016) (stating that the sentencing court is not required to consider the defendant's ability to pay until it has issued "the order constituting the plan of restitution"). Until that obligation is triggered, a defendant's challenge on ability-to-pay grounds is premature. *See Jackson*, 601 N.W.2d at 357 (stating that it was precluded from granting the defendant the relief he sought).

At the time Albright filed his notice of appeal, the plan of restitution was not complete. Not. of Appeal (8/14/17); App. 55; *See also* Trial court docket. The district court ordered that Albright pay court costs, but did not include even a temporary amount of costs in its sentencing order. Judg. and Sent. (8/11/17); App. 52-54. Nor did the court enter any supplemental orders setting forth the amount of the court costs. Until the district court has "at a minimum, an estimate of the total amount of restitution," it had no obligation to assess Albright's ability to pay costs. *See Campbell*, 2016 WL 4543763, at *4. And Albright may not challenge the district court's failure to make an ability-to-pay determination until that obligation exists. *See, e.g., State v. Brown*, No. 16-1118, 2017 WL 2181568, at *4 (Iowa Ct. App. May 17, 2017) (concluding that the defendant's ability-

to-pay challenge was premature because "the trial court had not yet entered a plan of restitution that would trigger the trial court's obligation to determine [the defendant's] reasonable ability to pay"); State v. Alexander, No. 16-0669, 2017 WL 510950, at *3 (Iowa Ct. App. Feb. 8, 2017) (holding that the district court's restitution order was "incomplete and not directly appealable" where the district court had "expressly reserved the amounts to be included in the plan of restitution for a later determination"); State v. Kemmerling, No. 16-0221, 2016 WL 5933408, at *1 (Iowa Ct. App. Oct. 12, 2016) ("Because the total amount of restitution had not yet been determined by the time the notice of appeal was filed, any challenge to the restitution order in this case is premature."); see also State v. McMurry, No. 16-1722, 2017 WL 4317302, at *4 (Iowa Ct. App. Sept. 27, 2017) (stating that a preliminary restitution order with no restitution amount would not be properly before the court).

Nor is Albright entitled to directly appeal the district court's reasonable ability to pay finding—or lack thereof—until he moves under Iowa Code section 910.7 for modification of the plan of restitution or plan of payment, or both. *See State v. Richardson*, 890 N.W.2d 609, 626 (Iowa 2017) (reaffirming *Jackson*'s principle "that

ability-to-pay challenges to restitution are premature until the defendant has exhausted the modification remedy afforded by Iowa Code section 910.7").

The State notes, however, that in recent cases, the Court of Appeals remanded the case to the district court for hearing when a court determines that a defendant has the reasonable ability to pay before a plan of restitution is entered. *State v. Johnson*, 887 N.W.2d 178, 184 (Iowa Ct. App. 2016) (because the sentencing court made a finding in its written order that Johnson was reasonably able to pay court-appointed attorney fees, it is "incorporated in the sentence" and may be directly appealable); *State v. Pace*, No. 16-1785, 2018 WL1629894, at *3 (Iowa Ct. App. 2018). The State submits that these cases are contrary to *State v. Jackson*, 601 N.W.2d 354, 357 (Iowa 1999) and *State v. Swartz*, 601 N.W.2d 348, 354 (Iowa 1999), and should be overruled.

Thus, until the district court completes the plan of restitution and Albright exhausts his remedies under Iowa Code section 910.7, his claim is not ripe and not directly appealable. *See Jackson*, 601 N.W.2d at 357.

Preservation of Error

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